IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KONSTANTINOS X. FOTOPOULOS,

Appellant,

CASE NO. 77,016

vs .

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Seventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Volusia County, Florida, Criminal Division.

> DOUGLAS N. DUNCAN WAGNER, NUGENT, JOHNSON, ROTH, KUPFER AND ROSSIN, P.A. 505 South Flagler Drive P.O. Box 3466 West Palm Beach, Florida 33402 (407)-655-5200 Fla. Bar #309672

> PHILIP G. BUTLER, JR. The Commerce Center 324 Datura Street, Suite 312 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (407)-659-3901 Fla. Bar# 167629

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the Defendant and the Appellee was the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventh Judicial Circuit in and for Volusia County, Florida. In this Brief, the Appellee will be referred to as the State, and the Appellant as the Appellant or Mr. Fotopoulos.

The following symbols will \mathbf{be} used:

"R" Record on Appeal

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, Konstantinos X. Fotopoulos, was indicted, and charged with two (2) counts of first degree murder, one (1) count of conspiracy to commit first degree murder, two (2) counts of solicitation to commit first degree murder, two (2) counts of attempted first: degree murder, and one (1) count of burglary of a dwelling while armed. Specifically, the Indictment charged the Appellant with: Count I, on or about October 20, 1989, the Appellant and Deidre Hunt committed premeditated first degree murder of Mark Ramsey; Count II, on or about November 4, 1989, the Appellant and Deidre Hunt committed premeditated first degree murder of Bryan Chase. (R. 3394); Count III, on or about October 1,1989 through and including November 4, 1989, the Appellant, Hunt, Teja James, and Lori Henderson conspired to commit first degree murder of Lisa Fotopoulos (R. 3395); Count V, on or between October 31, 1989, and November, 1989, the Appellant, Hunt and Henderson solicited Teja James to commit first degree murder of Lisa Fotopoulos. (R. 3397). The Appellant, Hunt, Henderson and James were also charged by Information, Case No. 90-6668 with attempted first degree murder of Lisa Fotopoulos on November 1, 1989. (R. 3400). In Case No. 90-1995, the Appellant along with others, was charged with on or about November 4, 1989, burglary of a dwelling while armed. (R. 3398); Count 11, the Appellant, Hunt, and Bryan Chase were charged with attempted first degree murder of Lisa Fotopoulos on or about November 4, 1989. (R. 3398); and in Count 111, the Appellant and Hunt were charged with soliciting Bryan Chase to commit first degree murder of Lisa Fotopoulos on or about November 1, through November 4, 1989. (R. 3399).

On January 9, 1991, the Appellant appeared before the Honorable S. James Foxman, Circuit Court Judge with retained counsel, Tom Motts. Mr. Motts requested the court to permit him to withdraw, and to have the Appellant declared indigent and counsel appointed. (R. 3992). During this hearing, the State over the Appellant's objections conducted extensive cross-examination of the Appellant's financial status. (R. 3992-4028). The trial court ultimately declared the Appellant indigent, (R. 3466), and appointed Carmen F. Corrente, Esquire, to represent him. (R. 3467).

Various pre-trial motions were filed and heard on June 4-5, 1990, August 10, 1990, August 31, 1990 and October 5, 1990. One motion filed was Motion for Severance of Offenses, wherein the Appellant sought to sever Count I of the Indictment, the first degree murder of Kevin Ramsey, from the remaining charges, including Count 11 of the Indictment, the first degree murder of Bryan Chase. (R. 3794-3796). This Motion was originally heard by the court on June 4, 1990. (R. 2867). The State gave a lengthy **proffer** as to the anticipated testimony in support of keeping the charges together. (R. 2874-81). The Appellant disputed the proffer maintaining there was an insufficient connection between the murders of Mr. Ramsey and Mr. Chase. (R. 2882-3). Based upon the proffer by counsel, the Motion to Sever Offenses was denied. (R. 2885). Thereafter, the Appellant: filed a renewed Motion for Severance, (R. 3842-43), and an amended Motion for Severance. (R. 3916-18). These motions were likewise denied by the court. (R. 3206, 3892).

Jury selection began on August 1, 1990, in Putnam County pursuant to trial court's granting of the Appellant's Motion for Change of Venue. (R. 3783-3786, 3835-3836). During voir dire, the Appellant objected to the State using peremptory challenges in a racially discriminatory matter. (R. 229, 434). The objections were overruled. (R. 230-231, 435-436).

At the conclusion of the State's case in chief, the Appellant moved for a judgment of acquittal. (R. 2021-2027). The motion was denied. (R. 2027). The Appellant renewed his motion at the close of all evidence. (R. 2479-2480, 2569-2570). Again, the motions were denied. (R. 2480, 2570).

The jury returned verdicts of guilty as to all offenses **as** charged. (R. 2817-2819). The Appellant **was** adjudicated guilty of all offenses. (R. 2821).

The penalty phase commenced on October 29, 1990. The jury recommended the death penalty as to Count I, (Kevin Ramsey), by a vote of eight (8) to four (4). As to Count 11, (Bryan Chase), the jury also recommended death by a vote of eight (8) to four (4). (R. 3332).

On November 1, 1990, the trial court conducted \mathbf{a} sentencing hearing. The trial court entered a written order sentencing the Appellant to death for the Ramsey murder. (R. 3390-91, 3936-39). The court also sentenced the Appellant: to death for the Chase murder. (R. 3391-92, 3940-3944). As to the Ramsey sentence, the trial court found three (3) statutory aggravating circumstances: 1) the Appellant was previously convicted of another capital felony or felony involving the use of threat or violence to the person; 2) capital felony was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest; and 3) capital felony was a homicide and committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense or moral or legal justification. (R. 3936-3937). The trial court found no statutory mitigating Circumstances had been established, but did find five non-statutory mitigating factors: 1) the Appellant was good son; 2) the Appellant came from a good family; 3) the Appellant was hard working; 4) the Appellant had good manners and he had a good sense of humor; 5) the Appellant did complete his education through the masters level. (R. 3938-As to the Chase murder, the trial court found five (5) aggravating 3939). circumstances. In addition to the three (3) found and noted above as to the Ramsey case, the court also found 4) the capital felony was committed while the Appellant was engaged or was an accomplice in the commission or an attempt to commit a burglary; 5) the capital felony was committed for pecuniary gain. (R. 3940-3941). The trial court did not find that any statutory mitigating factors had been establishedby the evidence, but found the same non-statutory mitigating factors as found in the Ramsey case. (R. 3942-3943). As to the remaining convictions, the trial court sentenced the Appellant to concurrent life sentences. (R. 3390).

The Appellant's Motion for New Trial was denied. (R. 3961-3963). A timely Notice of Appeal was filed. (R. 3970). Thereafter, a Stipulation for Substitution of Appellate Counsel was filed wherein Douglas N. Duncan and Philip G. Butler, Jr., are attorneys of record for the Appellant. This appeal follows:

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Those facts necessary for consideration of the issues raised herein on appeal will be discussed:

Sergeant Larry Lewis of the Daytona Police Department testified that on November 7, 1989, he and other officers went out to an area known as the Strickland Shooting Range located in Volusia County pursuant to information they had obtained from Mr. Teja James about a homicide. (R. 575). They were unable to locate a body. (R. 573-574). Later that same day, Deidre Hunt took Lewis and other law enforcement officers back out to the shooting range. With Hunt's assistance a badly decomposed body was discovered. It was estimated that the body had been left for a couple of weeks. (R. 584). The remains were later stipulated as those of Kevin Mark Ramsey. (R. 576-77, 602). The body appeared to have three (3) bullet wounds to the chest. (R. 591, 594). It appeared to the officers that he had been tied up at one point. (R. 591, 594). He was wearing a Harley Davidson tee shirt. (R. 594).

Dr. Arthur J. Botting, District Medical Examiner in and for Volusia County, testified without objection as an expert in forensic pathology that on November 8, 1989, he performed the autopsy on Mr. Ramsey. (R. 623, 627-28). The body was in an advanced stage of decomposition. (R. 628). During the autopsy, the doctor recovered two (2) small caliber bullets from the trunk (chest) area, and a third from the cranial cavity. (R. 629). **The** three (3) bullets had "the appearance of .22 caliber bullets." (R. 639). Dr. Botting testified that the .22 caliber shot to the skull was the fatal wound, (R. 668, 673), and this shot would have rendered Ramsey brain dead (R. 644) and immediately unconscious. (R. 667). Within a reasonable degree of medical certainty, Dr. Botting opined that the cause of Mr. Ramsey's death was multiple gunshot wounds to the chest and head.

(R. 638). Subsequent to his initial autopsy, Dr. Botting viewed a video tape of the Ramsey shooting. Based upon this viewing, he concluded there was an additional gunshot wound to the chest area. (R. 629). Also, subsequent to his initial autopsy, Dr. Botting was asked whether there was a possibility of a second gunshot wound present in the skull, and in particular whether such wound was caused by a high velocity type ammunition. (R. 640). Dr. Botting was shown Mr. Ramsey's skull which had been cleaned up, and reconstructed. (R. 640). He also consulted with Dr. Peter Lipkovich, Medical Examiner for Duvall County, Florida. (R. 640). In re-examining the skull, Dr. Botting concluded that there was a second gunshot wound to the skull which was consistent with a high powered weapon such as an AK-47 using military full metal jacketed round ammunition. (R. 642, 643-644). This second examination was conducted on July **31**, 1990. (R. 672).

Marjean Powell, the fiance of Mr. Ramsey, testified that she last saw him on October 20, 1989, at which time he was dressed in a Harley Davidson tee shirt. (R. 683). She saw Ramsey with Mr. Fotopoulos, and later saw him talking to Deidre Hunt. (R. 684). Ms. Powell acknowledged that a trespass warning had been issued at request of Mr. Fotopoulos prohibiting Mr. Ramsey from being at Fotopoulos' business establishment. (R. 688).

Deidre Hunt testified that she arrived in Daytona Beach in July, 1989. Sometime later, she obtained a job as a bartender at Mr. Fotopoulos' business, Top Shots. She developed a relationship with Mr. Fotopoulos. Over objection, Hunt was permitted to testify that Mr. Fotopoulos had threatened her with a pistol, (R. 735), threatened her friend James with a pistol (R. 719), had thrown a knife at her (R. 728), had slapped her, (R. 747), bound her hands with a coat hanger, and burned her breast with a cigarette. (R. 750). Additionally, Hunt was allowed to testify that Mr. Fotopoulos claimed to **be** an Israeli terrorist assassin, (R. 756) that he had killed many people, (R. 756), that he was a member of a Hunter and Killer Club, comprised of paid assassins to kill people, (R. 757), and was employed by the CIA. (R. 758).

One day, mid to late October, 1989, Hunt testified that she was asked by Mr. Fotopoulos to look for Mr. Ramsey. (R. 774). Hunt. Ramsev and Mr. Fotopoulos went out to the Strickland Rifle Range, Hunt had not been told what was to happen. (R. 775). After arriving at the rifle range, according to Hunt, Mr. Fotopoulos told her she was going to have to shoot Ramsey or she would die. (R. 777). Hunt testified that she felt she had no choice but to shoot Ramsey. (R. 778-780). After Ramsey had been tied up to a tree, and lead to believe that he was being initiated into a club, (R. 781-782), Hunt testified that she shot Ramsey three (3) times in the chest, and then walked up to him and shot him once 783-784). She further claimed that Mr. Fotopoulos in the temple. (R. subsequently shot Ramsey once in the head with his AK-47. (R. 785-787). Hunt testified that Mr. Fotopoulos video taped the shooting. (R, 783). According to Hunt, Mr. Fotopoulos told her that "if she ever tried to run" that the video tape would be turned over to the police. (R. 791).

According to Hunt, the next time she saw Mr. Fotopoulos he told her that she would have to kill his wife. If she did not cooperate, Mr. Fotopoulos advised he would turn over the video tape of the Ramsey shooting to the police. (R. 792-793). Later, Hunt claimed Mr. Fotapoulos brought up a plan where Hunt would hire someone else to kill Lisa Fotopoulos. (R. 794). Hunt testified that Mr. Fotopoulos wanted his wife killed for the \$700,000.00 available insurance money (R. 794-795). Thereafter, Hunt approached Michael Cox and offered him \$10,000.00 to kill Lisa Fotopoulos. The plan was for Cox to make it look like a robbery at the Joyland Amusement Center, Mrs. Fotopoulos' business. (R. 795-797). Hunt next approached J.R. Newman to kill Mrs. Fotopoulos. Like Cox, this plan never materialized. (R. 802-803). Hunt testified that she then approached Teja James, the boyfriend of her best friend Lori Henderson. (R. 804-805). The plan devised for Mr. James was to stab Mrs. Fotopoulos at a nightclub on Halloween night. (R. 812-814). This plan fell through. (R. 817). Thereafter, Hunt, Henderson and James located a .22 semi-automatic gun. (R. 818-819). The new plan was for James to shoot Mrs. Fotopoulos' at work and make it look like a robbery. (R. 822). On November 1, 1989, James went to Mrs. Fotopoulos' place

of business where his attempt to kill Mrs. Fotopoulos failed, (R. 825). Hunt testified that Bryan Chase was next approached. He agreed to kill Mrs. Fotopoulos for \$5,000.00 (R. 828). Hunt gave Chase the same silver .22 semiautomatic pistol that Mr. James had located, which would jam after the first fired shot. (R. 833). On November 4, 1989, Hunt was aware that Chase went to the Fotopoulos residence located at 2505 North Halifax Drive to commit the murder. (R. 893). Later, Hunt testified she heard from Mr. Fotopoulos from the hospital that his wife had been shot, but was alive. According to Hunt, Mr. Fotopoulos told her that he shot Chase. (R, 894-895). Hunt testified that eventually she went to the police voluntarily with her story. (R. 901). Hunt testified that she had pleaded guilty to first degree murder of Kevin Ramsey and Bryan Chase. (R. 1066). She was sentenced to death. (R. 1076). She acknowledged that she had previously refused to give a statement to Mr. Fotopoulos' lawyer and only a few days prior to her appearing and testifying she had given a deposition. (R. 1077).

Detective William Adamy of the Daytona Beach Police Department testified that on November 22, 1989, he along with other officers conducted a search at the Fotopoulos family residence. In the garage area, he located a brown bag, which contained a tape later identified as a videotape of Hunt killing Kevin Ramsey. Also contained on the tape was an unknown voice. (R. 1208-1213). Discovered in the barbecue pit area was a black vinyl bag containing an AK-47, .22 caliber pistol, along with bullets and other paraphernalia. (R. 1310-1315).

Garry Rathman, firearms expert with the Florida Department of Law Enforcement, testified that the three (3) fired bullets recovered from Mr. Ramsey's body during the autopsy were fired from the .22 caliber pistol recovered above. He also matched an expended AK-47 shell casing discovered in Mr. Fotopoulos' car with the AK-47 weapon. (R. 1931, 1934, 1939).

Ed Ross, Secret Service assigned to the video operations section in Washington, D.C., testified as an expert in the field of video reproduction, editing, authentication and lighting. (R. 1224-1228). In reference to the tape discovered by Detective Adamy, Mr. Ross testified that the tape was an original

and there had been no editing. (R. 1232-1234). The tape was played in slow motion for the jury.

Joseph Gallagher, an investigator with the State Attorney's Office, testified that he prepared a voice identification line-up utilizing the unknown voice from the Ramsey murder tape with voices of seven (7) other Greek men volunteers. (R. 1381). This voice identification line-up was presented to Lisa Fotopoulos, Dino Paspalakis, Tony Calderoni and Holly Ayscue. All four (4) people identified the unknown voice on the Ramsey murder tape as that of Mr. Fotopoulos. (R. 1397-1400). The voice line-up was also presented to Wendy Ayscue and two (2) Daytona Beach Police officers who had had contact with Mr. Fotopoulos because his business was located in the area where the officers patrolled. (R. 1402-1403). The officers and Ayscue were unable to make an identification, (R. 1411, 1412). The voice identifications that were made, were all done after Mr. Fotopoulos had been arrested. (R. 1414).

Anthony Holbrook, retired professor of communications, was permitted over objection to testify as an expert in the field of speaker identifications. (R. 1438). He testified that in comparing a known voice exemplar of Mr. Fotopoulos with the unknown voice on the Ramsey murder tape he was of the opinion that the unknown voice was Mr. Fotopoulos. (R. 1463)

Teja James, eighteen (18) years old, (R. 1737), testified that Deidre Hunt had told him that she and Mr. Fotopoulos had taken Ramsey out to the Strickland Firing Range where she shot Ramsey. (R. 1740). Hunt told James she shot Ramsey because "he was complaining all the time he was hungry." (R. 1740). Hunt also told James Ramsey was killed because he was trying to blackmail Mr. Fotopoulos. (R. 1741). James acknowledged on cross-examination that Deidre Hunt had never told him that Mr. Fotopoulos had threatened or forced her to shoot Ramsey. (R. 1772). Mr. James testified that he was present when Ms. Hunt asked Mr. Fotopoulos why he had video taped her murdering Kevin Ramsey. Mr. Fotopoulos allegedly replied that it was his insurance policy, to keep Hunt's mouth shut from going around telling everyone about his business. (R. 1820).

James Calderoni testified that he worked at Mr. Fotopoulos' business, Top Shots. (R. 1855). He testified that he had had conversations with Mr. Fotopoulos trying to get him to separate and end his relationship with Deidre Hunt. He told Mr. Fotopoulos that Hunt "had quite a bit" on him, in that Mr. Fotopoulos had sex with her, paid her bills, put her up in an apartment, etc.. Mr. Fotopoulos allegedly responded that Hunt could never blackmail him because he had a video tape of her killing someone. (R. 1860).

On November 4, 1989, police officers were dispatched to the Fotopoulos family residence located at 2505 North Halifax Drive, Daytona Beach, Florida in reference to a break in and shots fired. (R. 1254). A statement was taken from Mr. Fotopoulos who advised that he had been sleeping when he heard a gunshot, and saw a silhouette standing next to the bed. He picked up his gun and fired five (5) shots at the silhouette. Subsequently, he got out of bed and the assailant moved, so he shot again. (R. 1283). After the officers entered the residence, they located Mrs. Lisa Fotopoulos lying in her bed, who had been shot once in the head, but was alert and conscious. (R. 1137, 1144). The man on the floor still had in his hand a small silver automatic .22 caliber pistol. (R. 1140). Located inside the person's wallet was an Ohio driver's license identifying the individual as Bryan Chase. (R. 1149-1150). It was stipulated **as** well that the individual was Bryan Chase. (R. 1190).

Dr. Botting, was recalled by the State, **and** testified that he performed the autopsy of Mr. Chase. He testified that the cause of death was multiple gunshot wounds. (R. 1831).

The defense presented the testimony of Ken Pfarr, U.S. Secret Service Agent. (R. 2238). He testified that he had been requested to conduct a voice identification exam, i.e., compare Mr. Fotopoulos' voice with the unknown voice on the Ramsey murder tape. (R. 2250). His opinion was there were sufficient dissimilarities **so** that he was unable to draw a positive conclusion whose voice it was on the tape. (R. 2255).

Mr. Fotopoulos testified in **his** own defense. Immediately prior to testifying, defense counsel advised the court that he **was** unclear of Mr. Fotopoulos' prior record, and requested a copy of his record. (R. 2264).

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