DEC 9 1991

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SURREME COURT. By______ Chief Deputy Clerk

KONSTANTINOS X. FOTOPOULOS,

Appellant,

v.

×.... γ

CASE NO. 77,016

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

_ /

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KELLIE A. NIELAN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FL. BAR, #618550 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Further, the record is sufficient to demonstrate that there was no discovery violation and thus no need for further inquiry. See, Freeman v. State, 494 So.2d 270 (Fla. 1986) (Richardson hearing is not required in the absence of a discovery violation). "Labels are convenient, but they sometimes mislead by their simplicity." Carter v. State, 485 So.2d 1295 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). Fotopoulos has cited no authority for the proposition that the discovery rule requires the prosecutor to furnish the defense with copies of transcripts of all pretrial proceedings, and to find such would extend the requirements rule 3.220 far beyond their intended

purpose. The discovery rule was never intended to furnish a defendant with a procedural device to escape justice. *Richardson, supra* at 774. Contrary to Fotopoulos assertion, the rule does not require the prosecuting attorney to disclose all information within his possession and control. The state is not required to prepare the defense's case, *Medina v. State*, 466 So.2d 1046 (Fla. 1985), and a defendant should not be permitted to employ pretrial procedures so as to require the state attorney to prepare his case for him or disclose documents which are readily available to him. *State v. Coney*, 272 So.2d 550 (Fla. 1st DCA 1973).

The same trial court judge presided over the hearing at issue, appointed defense counsel, and presided over trial. The order appointing counsel specifically states that a hearing was held (R 3467). Thus, counsel was aware (as was Fotopoulos), and the trial court knew he was aware that such hearing had been conducted, and could have obtained a transcript of it. Fotopoulos is attempting to **pervert** the requirements and intent of the discovery rule to escape justice and such attempt should be summarily rejected.

POINT 6

FOTOPOULOS HAS FAILED TO ALLEGE OR DEMONSTRATE REVERSIBLE ERROR.

Fotopoulos claims that the cumulative errors committed require that he be awarded a new trial, and sets forth a potpourri of alleged errors. The purpose of briefs and arguments is to present to the court in concise form the points and questions in controversy, and by fair argument on the facts and

law of the case to assist the court in arriving at a just and proper conclusion, and to notify apposing counsel of the questions presented and the authorities relied on. State v. A.D.H., 429 So.2d 1316 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983). See also, Duest v. Dugger, 555 So.2d 849 (Fla. 1990). Alleged errors relied upon for reversal must be clearly, concisely, and as separate points on appeal. Rodriguez v. State, 502 So.2d 18 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987); Singer v. Borbua, 497 So.2d 279 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986). When points, positions, facts and supporting authorities are omitted from the brief, a court is entitled to believe that such are waived, abandoned, or deemed by counsel to be unworthy. Polyglycoat Corporation v. Hirsch Distributors, Inc., 442 So.2d 958 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984). The duty rests upon the appealing party to make error clearly appear, and an appellant does not discharge this duty by merely posing a question with an accompanying assertion that it was improperly answered in the court below and then dumping the matter in the lap of the appellate court for decision. Lynn v. City of Fort Lauderdale, 81 So.2d 511 (Fla. 1955). Appellee submits that the presentation of numerous alleged errors in one point is improper. In any event, as will be demonstrated, the bulk of these claims were either not preserved, see, Sochor v. State, 580 So.2d 595 (Fla. 1991), are insufficiently argued, and in sum are without merit either individually or in combination, so relief is not warranted. See, Burns v. State, 16 F.L.W. 389 (Fla. May 16, 1991).

Fotopoulos first claims that **the** ability (which appellee assumes should read inability) to prepare properly for the crossexamination and follow-up investigation of the deposition answers

- 36 -

of Hunt deprived him of a fair trial. Counsel never requested a continuance and specifically stated that he was ready for trial (\mathbf{R} 27, 511), so this claim has not been preserved. Further, Fotopoulos has failed to allege anything additional that could have been done so prejudice has not been demonstrated.

Fotopoulos next claims that the trial court erred in permitting the state to elicit irrelevant background information The record demonstrates that after the prosecutor from Hunt. asked Hunt about her father, defense counsel objected and the trial court stated that it considered a couple of questions on background okay but if it went much further the objection would be sustained (R 693). There was no further objection to the testimony now referenced by Fotopoulos, so the claim is not preserved. Bertolloti, supra. Further, the case cited by Fotopoulos inapplicable. Simply because the trial court properly is precluded certain questions of the defendant in that case does not mean that asking Hunt background questions in this case was error, particularly in the absence of an objection.

Fotopoulos next claims that the trial court erred in permitting "repeated references" to weapons. As Fotopoulos has set forth no record cites to support this claim, appellee submits it is not cognizable and must be considered waived. Likewise, Fotopoulos' bald assertion that this evidence became the "feature of the trial" is insufficient to demonstrate prejudice. $A.D.H_{c}$, supra; Lynn, supra.

Fotopoulos next claims that the state improperly injected the issue of homosexuality into the trial by suggesting through

- 37 -

witnesses that he and Kouracos had a homosexual relationship. This argument was never presented to the trial court so it is not cognizable on appeal. Bertolotti, supra. Further, while there was an objection during the testimony of Mrs. Kouracos that was sustained, there was no motion to strike or request for a curative instruction or mistrial, so the issue has not been preserved. Riechmann v. State, 581 So.2d 133 (Fla. 1991). Kouracos was asked on cross-examination whether he found his way into the Fotopoulos bedroom within 24 hours of Lisa Fotopoulos being shot, and defense counsel objected on the basis of relevancy. The trial court indicated the objection would be sustained unless relevancy could be shown, and after the prosecutor stated he was offering it to show the bias of the witness there was no further objection. Before proceeding, the prosecutor even specifically asked if he was being allowed to ask the question, and there was no further comment by the defense. Appellee submits that this constitutes waiver of the objection. Id. In any event, prejudice has not been demonstrated, because unlike the case cited by Fotopoulos, the prosecutor did not repeatedly ask, over defense objection, pointed questions about the defendant's sleeping arrangements, and in fact on direct Kouracos had explained all of the circumstances surrounding this single incident.⁸ The

⁸ Kouracos has testified that the preceeding day he had worked at the Greek Festival all day, then went and "partied" at a friend's house until close to 3:00 a.m. Several people **became** concerned about Fotopoulos being alone so Kouracos and Lisa's cousin went over and sat **up** all night at the Paspalakis home. Kouracos took the cousin home about 5:30 or 6:00 a.m., returned to the Paspalakis home because he was worried about Fotopoulos, and fell asleep on the couch. Mrs. Paspalakis came in and woke him up, and he went upstairs to talk to Fotopoulos. Fotopoulos was getting up so he laid down in **the** bed to take a nap (R 2180-84).

testimony showed nothing more than that Kouracos and Fotopoulos, as well as Lisa Fotopoulos, were very close friends.

Fotopoulos next claims that the state made a feature of his sexual life, but again this argument was never presented to the trial court, and defense counsel acknowledged that certain questions were proper in response to Fotopoulos' assertions that he was a good husband (R 2391), so the claim is not cognizable. In any event, as defense counsel acknowledged, this subject was a proper area for exploration where the defense theory was that Fotopoulos had a good marriage and no reason for killing his wife. McCrae, supra. One of the purposes of cross-examination is to weaken, test, or demonstrate the impossibility of the testimony of the witness on direct examination. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 337 (Fla. 1982). Further, it was Fotopoulos who first brought up the collection of pictures he "had in the garage", to which he added the videotape which he claimed he thought was a "surprise" from Hunt, depicting her affairs with Fotopoulos stated that the last thing on his mind the women. morning after Lisa was shot was looking at naked women (R 2357).

Fotopoulos' remaining claims pertain to his crossexamination and are addressed in Point 3, *supra*.

- 39 --

POINT 7

THERE WAS NO OBJECTION TO EITHER THE JOINT PENALTY PHASE OR THE INSTRUCTIONS AS GIVEN AND NO REQUEST FOR SPECIAL INSTRUCTIONS SO THE CLAIM IS BARRED; ERROR HAS NOT BEEN DEMONSTRATED.

Fotopoulos claims that the error in denying his motions for severance was compounded during the penalty phase since the jury instructed on five aggravating factors due to the Chase was murder but only three applied to the **Ramsey** murder. While Fotopoulos states that he renewed his severance motion argument at sentencing, the record demonstrates that this "renewal" was nothing more than a comment that was made during argument at the trial court sentencing proceeding in regard to the application of the prior violent felony aggravating factor (R 3360). Since there was no motion for separate penalty phases and no objection to the instructions as given and no request for special jury instructions as to each murder, the instant claim is not cognizable on appeal. Sochor v. State, 580 So.2d 595 (Fla. 1991); Bertolotti v. Dugger, 514 So.2d 1095 (Fla. 1987).

Even if the claim is cognizable, relief is not warranted. As demonstrated in Point 2, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Fotopoulos' motions to sever. At the penalty phase, the jury was instructed that the aggravating circumstances it could find were limited to those "established by the evidence" (R 3324-25), and was given a separate verdict form for each murder (R 3328-29). There is nothing to indicate that the jury was led or left to believe, as Fotopoulos contends, that all five aggravatoss applied to both murders. *See, e.g., Espinosa v.*

- 40 -

State, 16 F.L.W. 489 (Fla. July 11, 1991) (nothing in jury instructions or elsewhere indicates that the jury's deliberations with respect to whether defendant should be executed for victim's murder was improperly influenced by evidence concerning attack on attempted murder victim). This is particularly true in light of the fact that the prosecutor argued that three factors were applicable to the Chase murder and five were applicable to the Ramsey murder (R 3307-8).

The relied upon by Fotopoulos readily cases are distinguishable. In Floyd v. State, 569 So.2d 1225 (Fla. 1990) and Stewart v. State, 549 So.2d 171 (Fla. 1989), this court held that it is not error to refuse to instruct the jury on all statutory aggravating factors so that the absence of many of those factors can be argued as a reason for imposing a life sentence. In Omelus v. State, 584 So.2d 563 (Fla. 1991), this court held that error in instructing the jury on an inapplicable aggravating factor could not be found harmless where the prosecutor had forcefully argued the finding of such factor to the jury. As stated, the prosecutor never argued that all five factors were applicable to both homicides and specifically argued only three in support of the Ramsey murder, so even if the claim is preserved and error occurred, it is harmless at worst where there is nothing to indicate that the jury was confused or affected.

POINT 8

THERE WAS NO OBJECTION TO STATEMENTS ADMITTED DURING THE PENALTY **PHASE** SO THE CLAIM HAS BEEN WAIVED; THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE RAMSEY MURDER WAS COMMITTED TO PREVENT LAWFUL ARREST. Fotopoulos claims that the trial court erred in permitting the state to introduce hearsay statements during the penalty phase which he did not have the opportunity to rebut, and that this testimony was used by the trial court in support of an aggravating factor. The record demonstrates that there was no objection to this testimony, so the claim has been waived. *Sochor, supra; Bertolotti, supra.* In addition, testimony that Ramsey was blackmailing Fotopoulos was admitted during the guilt **phase** without objection (R 689, **1741-42, 1821-25)**, was brought **out** by the defense curing the guilt phase (**R** 1802-03), and was argued by the defense during penalty phase closing (R 3315), **so** Fotopoulos should not now be **heard** to complain that the admission of such testimony was error. *See, Farinas v. State,* 569 **So.2d** 425 (Fla. 1990); *Armstrong v. State,* **579 So.2d 734** (Fla. **1991).**

In any event, this factor was established independent of any possible hearsay evidence and was properly found by the trial court. A motive to eliminate a potential witness to an antecedent crime can provide the basis for this aggravating factor, and it is not necessary that an arrest be imminent at the time of the murder. Swafford v. State, 533 So.2d 276 (Fla. 1988). See also, Johnson v. State, 465 So.2d 499 (Fla. 1985); LeCroy v. State, 533 So.2d 750 (Fla. 1988). The arrest avoidance factor can be supported by circumstantial evidence through inference from facts shown. Id. at 276, n.6. In determining whether an aggravating factor has been proved the trial judge may apply a "common-sense inference from the circumstances." Id. at 277; Gilliam v. State, 582 So.2d 610 (Fla. 1991). The resolution of factual conflicts is solely the responsibility and duty of the trial judge and an appellate court has no authority to reweigh that evidence. *Gunsby u. State*, **574 So.2d 1085 (Fla.** 1991). When a trial judge, mindful of the applicable standard of proof, finds that an aggravating circumstance has been established, this finding should not be overturned unless there is a lack of competent substantial evidence to support it. *Bryan u. State*, **533 So.2d 744** (Fla. 1988).

The operative facts that support this factor do not come from the fact that Ramsey told James and Henderson that he was blackmailing Fotopoulos, but rather come from what Fotopoulos knew and the way he reacted. James testified that Hunt had told him that Ramsey was killed because he knew "some stuff" about Fotopoulos and was trying to blackmail him (R 1741). Fotopoulos then told James that he knew that James knew some things that nobody was supposed to know about him, and that Ramsey had known those things and "chose the wrong road to go down" (R 1742). Fotopoulos' philosophy was that dead men do not tell tales (R 1879). The common sense inference from these facts, **as** found by the trial court, is that:

> Ramsey knew of the Defendant's illegal activities and planned to blackmail the Defendant, One of the dominate (sic) motives behind killing Ramsey was elimination of a witness hostile to the Defendant.

(R 3937).

Fotopoulos also claims that this aggravating factor was incorrectly found because there was more than one possible

explanation/motive for the murder. Fotopoulos refers to two possible motives Hunt may have had, but appellee submits that Hunt's possible motives are irrelevant **to** the findings in the instant case. Fotopoulos also refers to three "theories" behind the Ramsey murder (to have leverage over Hunt, to see if Hunt could kill, and blackmail), but none of these theories exclude, and all certainly include the fact that the reason Ramsey was selected **as** the victim **was** to eliminate him as a potential witness. This factor was properly found.

Even if for some reason this court determines that the trial court erred in finding this factor, any error is harmless at worst. The trial court specifically found that the other two aggravating factors are entitled to great weight and by themselves call for the death penalty as they overwhelm any mitigating evidence (R 3939). Death is the appropriate penalty. See, Jones v. State, 580 So.2d 143 (Fla. 1991) (trial court specifically stated that stricken circumstance was not determinative and death would have been imposed on its absence); Young v. State, 579 So.2d 721 (Fla. 1991) (trial court stated that mitigating evidence was outweighed by any one aggravating factor).

POINT 9

THE CLAIM IS NOT PRESERVED AND ALTERNATIVELY IS WITHOUT MERIT.

Fotopoulos claims that the trial court erred in not instructing the jury pursuant to *Jackson v. State*, 502 So.2d 409 (Fla. 1986), as to the Ramsey murder. There was no objection to

- 44 -

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